
 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Pension Fund Committee 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Thursday 20th February, 2020 

   

Time: 
 

 6.00 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 Rooms 18.04 and 18.05, 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, 
London, SW1E 6QP 

   

Members: 
 

 Councillors: 
 

 

  Eoghain Murphy 
Barbara Arzymanow 

 

Angela Harvey 
Patricia McAllister 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda 
 
Admission to the public gallery is by ticket, issued from the 
ground floor reception from 6.00pm.  If you have a disability 
and require any special assistance please contact the 
Committee Officer (details listed below) in advance of the 
meeting. 
 

   

T
 

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Toby Howes, Senior Committee and Governance 
Officer. 
 
Tel: 020 7641 8470; Email: thowes@westminster.gov.uk 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Director of Law in advance of the meeting please. 
 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN/MEMBERSHIP  

 To elect the Chairman of the Pension Fund Committee and to 
note any changes to the membership. 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations of interest by Members and Officers of 
any pecuniary interest or any other significant interest in matters 
on this agenda. 
 

 

3.   DRAFT INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND 
INVESTMENT BELIEFS 

(Pages 3 - 34) 

 Report of the Tri-Borough Director of Treasury and Pensions. 
 

 

 
 
Stuart Love 
Chief Executive 
12 February 2020 
 



 

 

Committee Report 
 
 

Decision Maker: 
 

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

20 February 2020 

Classification: 
 

General Release 

Title: 
 

Draft Investment Strategy Statement and 
Investment Beliefs  
 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

Policy Context: 
 

Effective control over Council Activities  

Financial Summary:  
 

There are no financial implications arising 
from this report. 
 

Report of: 
 

Phil Triggs 
Tri-Borough Director of Treasury and 
Pensions 
 

ptriggs@westminster.gov.uk 
020 7641 4136 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 As per the Local Government Pension Scheme (LPGS) Management 
and Investment of Funds Regulations 2016, the Westminster Pension 
Fund is required to publish an Investment Strategy Statement (ISS). 
 

1.2 Attached is a draft ISS, which sets out the Pension Fund’s policy on 
investment, risk management, LGPS pooling and ethical, social and 
governance (ESG) issues, for both its own investments and those being 
managed through the London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV). 
 

1.3 Based on questionnaire feedback from Pension Fund Committee 
members, the Fund’s investment consultant, Deloitte, has drafted a set 
of investments beliefs for the Fund which, subject to approval and edit 
by the Pension Fund Committee, will be adopted and form a core part 
of the Fund’s investment strategy going forward.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3

mailto:ptriggs@westminster.gov.uk


 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

  The Committee is invited: 
 

To consider the draft investment beliefs, with a view to establishing a final draft 
to be adopted by the Pension Fund.   
 
To consider the draft Investment Strategy Statement (ISS), with a view to 
establishing a final draft to be adopted by the Pension Fund.   
 
To delegate authority to the Tri-Borough Director of Treasury and Pensions in 
consultation with the Chairman to publish the final Investment Beliefs and the 
ISS. 

  
3. INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 

 
3.1 The ISS sets out the requirements of the LGPS legislation and the Pension 

Fund Committee’s terms of reference. The ISS has been prepared in 
accordance with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment Strategy 
Statement.  

 
3.2 The six main objectives of the legislation are then detailed in relation to 

Westminster City Council’s Pension Fund policies and strategies. These are: 
 

 Objective 7.2 (a): A requirement to invest fund money in a wide range of 
instruments. This sets out how the investment strategy deals with 
diversification and return to meet the long term objectives of the fund; 
 

 Objective 7.2(b): The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular 
investments and types of investment. This sets out how the Pension Fund 
Committee assesses the suitability of investments and measures their 
suitability; 
 

 Objective 7.2(c): The authority’s approach to risk, including ways in which 
risks are to be measured and managed. This sets out how the Pension Fund 
Committee assesses the different types of risk in order to establish what is 
acceptable to ensure that the fund meets its obligations; 
 

 Objective 7.2(d): The authority’s approach to pooling investments, including 
the use of collective investment vehicles. This sets out the Pension Fund 
Committee’s approach to LGPS pooling and also what the LCIV can offer in 
terms of investment opportunities; 
 

 Objective 7.2(e): How environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention 
and realisation of investments. This sets out how the Fund meets these 
obligations, and also how potential investments with the LCIV will comply with 
these obligations; 
 

Page 4



 

 Objective 7.2(f): The exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to 
investments. This sets out how the Fund meets these obligations and also 
how potential investments with the LCIV will be dealt with. 

 
3.3 The ISS also deals in turn with the Funds compliance with the CIPFA 

Pensions Panel Principles for investment decision making in the LGPS, shown 
as Appendix A of the ISS. These six principles cover a range of factors as 
follows: 

 
o Effective decision-making 
o Clear objectives 
o Risk and Liabilities 
o Performance Assessment 
o Responsible Ownership 
o Transparency and Reporting 

 
3.4 The Fund’s compliance with the Stewardship Code 2020 Guidance is set out 

within Appendix B of the ISS. The Code applies to pension funds and adopts 
the same "comply or explain" approach used in the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. This means that it does not require compliance with principles but, if 
fund managers and institutional investors do not comply with any of the 
principles set out, they must explain why they have not done so. The LCIV’s 
Stewardship Statement can be found within Appendix C of the ISS. 

 
3.5 The Fund’s Responsible Investment policy is set out in Appendix D of the ISS. 

The purpose of this policy document is to lay out the Fund’s approach to how 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations are considered in 
the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments. 

 
3.6 The strategic asset allocation of the Fund can be found within Appendix E of 

the ISS (as per the draft recommended asset allocation following Deloitte’s 
investment strategy review). This sets out the target asset allocation to a 
variety of assets as well as the review ranges. Once the review range of an 
asset is triggered, a rebalancing exercise should be undertaken to ensure the 
Fund stays within its target allocation limits. It is recommended that the 
Committee approves these asset review ranges.  
 

4. INVESTMENT BELIEFS 
 
4.1 The objective of the Investment Beliefs is to set out the Fund’s key investment 

beliefs. These beliefs will form the foundation of discussions, and assist 
decisions, reference the structure of the Fund, its strategic asset allocation and 
the selection of investment managers. 

 
4.2 When considering the Committee’s investment beliefs, it is useful to consider 

the six objectives within the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations, listed in section 3.2 of this report. A clear set of investment beliefs 
can help achieve good governance by providing a framework for all investment 
decisions. 

Page 5



 

4.3 The draft Investment Beliefs are attached at Appendix 2 and fall into five key 
areas. The Committee is invited to consider its views reference the beliefs as 
well as offering any further views of its own. The key areas are below: 

 

 Investment governance 

 Long term approach 

 Environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors 

 Asset allocation 

 Management strategies 
 
5 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
 
5.1 The ISS as presented, sets out the requirements of the Regulation, and 

Statutory Guidance with regard to the management of the Westminster 
Pension Fund.  

 
5.2 It includes elements of the LCIV’s ISS which will apply to the investment 

categories the Fund has invested through the LCIV. 
 

 
If you have any questions about this report, or wish to inspect one of 

the background papers, please contact the report author:  
 

Billie Emery bemery@westminster.gov.uk  
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
None. 
 
APPENDICES:  

 
Appendix 1 – Investment Strategy Statement 

 
Appendix 2 – Investment Beliefs 

Page 6

mailto:bemery@westminster.gov.uk


City of Westminster Pension Fund  
Investment Strategy Statement 2020/21 

 MENT OF INVTMENTNCPLES 2014  
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This is the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) adopted by the City of Westminster Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”), which is administered by Westminster City Council (“the Administering Authority”).  
 
Under the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 the 
Fund is required to publish this ISS. The Regulations require administering authorities to outline how they meet 
each of 6 objectives aimed at improving the investment and governance of the Fund.  
 
1.2 This Statement addresses each of the objectives included in the 2016 Regulations:  

a) A requirement to invest fund money in a wide range of instruments; 
b) The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of investment; 
c) The authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be measured and 

managed; 
d) The authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective investment 

vehicles; 
e) The authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate governance considerations are 

taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments; and 
f) The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments. 

 
We deal with each of these in turn below.  
 
1.3 The Pension Fund Committee (the “Committee”) of the City of Westminster Pension Fund oversees the 
management of the Fund’s assets. Although not trustees, the Members of the Committee owe a fiduciary duty 
similar to that of trustees to the council-tax payers and guarantors of other scheme employers, who would 
ultimately have to meet any shortfall in the assets of the Fund, as well as to the contributors and beneficiaries 
of the Fund.  
 
1.4 The relevant terms of reference for the Committee within the Council’s Constitution are:  
 
The Pension Fund Committee’s responsibilities are set out in their terms of reference and are to have 
responsibility for all aspects of the investment and other management activity of the Council’s Pension Fund, 
including, but not limited to, the following matters:  
 

 To agree the investment strategy and strategic asset allocation having regard to the advice of the fund 
managers and the Investment Consultant.  

 To monitor performance of the Superannuation Fund, individual fund managers, custodians, actuary 
and other external advisors to ensure that they remain suitable;  

 To determine the Fund management arrangements, including the appointment and termination of the 
appointment of the Fund Managers, Actuary, Custodians and Fund Advisers.  

 To agree the Statement of Investment Principles, the Funding Strategy Statement, the Business Plan for 
the Fund, the Governance Policy Statement, the Communications Policy Statement and the Governance 
Compliance Statement and to ensure compliance with these.  

 To approve the final accounts and balance sheet of the Superannuation Fund and to approve the Annual 
Report. 

 To receive actuarial valuations of the Superannuation Fund regarding the level of employers’ 
contributions necessary to balance the Superannuation Fund.  

 To oversee and approve any changes to the administration arrangements, material contracts and 
policies and procedures of the Council for the payment of pensions, compensation payments and 
allowances to beneficiaries.  

 To make and review an admission policy relating to admission agreements generally with any admission 
body.  

Page 7



 To ensure compliance with all relevant statutes, regulations and best practice with both the public and 
private sectors.  

 To review the arrangements and managers for the provision of Additional Voluntary Contributions for 
fund members.  

 To receive and consider the Auditor’s report on the governance of the Pension Fund.  

 To determine the compensation policy on termination of employment and to make any decisions in 
accordance with that policy other than decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and 
Deputy Chief Officers of the Council (which fall within the remit of the Appointments Sub-Committee). 

 To determine policy on the award of additional membership of the pension fund and to make any 
decisions in accordance with that policy other than decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief 
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers of the Council (which fall within the remit of the Appointments Sub-
Committee).  

 To determine policy on the award of additional pension and to make any decisions in accordance with 
that policy other than decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 
Officers of the Council (which fall within the remit of the Appointments Sub- Committee). 

 To determine policy on retirement before the age of 60 and to make any decisions in accordance with 
that policy other than decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 
Officers of the Council (which fall within the remit of the Appointments Sub- Committee).  

 To determine a policy on flexible retirement and to make any decisions in accordance with that policy 
other than decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers of the 
Council (which fall within the remit of the Appointments Sub-Committee).  

 To determine questions and disputes pursuant to the Internal Disputes Resolution Procedures.  

 To determine any other investment or pension policies that may be required from time to time so as 
to comply with Government regulations and to make any decisions in accordance with those policies 
other than decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers of the 
Council (which fall within the remit of the Appointments Sub-Committee).  

 
The Committee has responsibility for:  

 Determining an overall investment strategy and strategic asset allocation, with regard to diversification 
and the suitability of asset classes  

 Appointing the investment managers, an independent custodian, the actuary, the investment advisor(s) 
and any other external consultants considered necessary  

 Reviewing on a regular basis the investment managers’ performance against benchmarks, portfolio risk 
and satisfying themselves as to the managers’ expertise and the quality of their internal systems and 
controls  

 Monitoring compliance with the ISS & Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) and reviewing its contents  

 Reviewing policy on social, environmental and ethical considerations, and on the exercise of voting 
rights  

 
The Executive Director of Finance and Resources, the Tri-Borough Director of Treasury and Pensions and the 
appointed consultants and actuaries support the Pension Fund Committee. The day-to-day management of the 
Fund’s assets is delegated to investment managers.  
 
1.5 This ISS will be reviewed at least once a year, or more frequently as required - in particular following 
valuations, future asset/liability studies and performance reviews, which may indicate a need to change 
investment policy, or significant changes to the FSS.  
 
1.6 Under the previous Regulations the Statement of Investment Principles required to state how it complies 
with the revised six investment principles as outlined within the CIPFA Pensions Panel Principles. Although not 
formally required under the 2016 Regulations this information is given in Appendix A. In addition, Appendix B 
includes a disclosure of the Fund’s policy on how the Committee discharge their stewardship responsibilities.  
 
1.7 Governing all investment decisions are the Committee’s core investment beliefs they have been established 
based on the views of the members and are listed below: 
 
 

Page 8



1 Investment Governance 
a. The Fund has access to the necessary skills, expertise and resources to manage the whole Fund, as well as 
internally managing a small proportion of the Fund’s assets, such as cash management. 
b. Investment consultants, independent advisors and officers are a source of expertise and research to inform 
and assist the Committee’s decisions. 
c. The ultimate aim of the Fund’s investments is to pay pension liabilities when they become due. The 
Committee will therefore take account of liquidity and the long-term ability of the Fund to meet these 
obligations. 
d. The Fund is continuously improving its governance structure through bespoke training to implement tactical 
views more promptly, but acknowledges that it is not possible to achieve optimum market timing. 
 
2 Long Term Approach 
a. The strength of the employers’ covenant allows the Fund to take a longer term view of investment strategy 
than most investors. 
b. The most important aspect of risk is not the volatility of returns, but the risk of absolute loss over the 
medium and long term. This would in turn impact the ability of the employers to make adequate 
contributions to meet the Fund’s liabilities. 
c. Illiquidity and volatility are shorter term risks which offer potential sources of additional compensation to 
the long term investor. Moreover, it is important to avoid being a forced seller in short term market 
setbacks. 
d. Over the long term, equities are expected to outperform other liquid assets, particularly government bonds 
and cash. 
 
3 Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors 
a. Certain ESG factors are financially material and may therefore influence the risk and return characteristics of 
the Fund’s investments and the likelihood that the Fund’s objectives will be achieved. 
b. Well governed companies that manage their business in a responsible manner are less vulnerable to 
downside risk and may therefore produce higher returns over the long term. 
c. In order to improve corporate governance, investment managers should exercise the voting rights attached 
to the shares they own, as well as engage with management of the companies they invest in. 
d. Environmental considerations form a part of the Committee’s decision-making process when making 
investment allocations 
e. If an investment manager fails to adequately consider ESG issues, the Committee is prepared to disinvest 
assets from that manager. 
 
4 Asset allocation 
a. Allocations to asset classes other than equities and government bonds (e.g., corporate bonds, private 
markets and property) offer the Fund other forms of risk premia (e.g., additional solvency risk/illiquidity risk). 
b. Diversification across asset classes and asset types that have low correlation with each other will tend to 
reduce the volatility of the overall Fund return. 
c. In general, allocations to bonds and alternatives are made to achieve additional diversification. As the 
funding level improves, the Committee may look to certain lower risk strategies to mitigate liability risks and 
thus dampen the volatility of the Fund’s actuarial funding level. 
 
5 Management Strategies 
a. A well-balanced portfolio has an appropriate mix of passive and active investments. 
b. Passive, index-tracker style management provides low cost exposure to equities and bonds, and is especially 
attractive in efficient markets. 
c. Active management will typically incur higher investment management fees but can provide additional 
return. Fees should be aligned to the interests of the Fund rather than performance of the market. 
d. Active management performance should be monitored over multi-year rolling cycles and assessed to 
confirm that the original investment process on appointment is being delivered and that continued 
appointment is appropriate. 
e. Employing a range of management styles can reduce the volatility of overall Fund returns but can also 
reduce long term outperformance. 
 
 

Page 9



2. Objective 7.2 (a): A requirement to invest fund money in a wide range of instruments 
  
2.1 Funding and investment risk is discussed in more detail later in this ISS. However, at this stage it is important 
to state that the Committee is aware of the risks it runs within the Fund and the consequences of these risks.  
 
2.2 In order to control risk the Committee recognises that the Fund should have an investment strategy that has:  

 Exposure to a diverse range of sources of return, such as market, manager skill and through the use of 
less liquid holdings. 

 Diversity in the asset classes used  

 Diversity in the approaches to the management of the underlying assets.  
 
2.3 This approach to diversification has seen the fund dividing its assets into four broad categories global 
equities, Fixed Income, Property and Alternatives. The size of the assets invested in each category will vary 
depending on investment conditions, the strategic asset allocation can be found within appendix E. However, it 
is important to note that each category is itself diversified. A consequence of this approach is that the Fund’s 
assets are invested in a wide range of instruments. 
  
2.4 The main risk the Committee are concerned with is to ensure the long-term ability of the fund to meet 
pension, and other benefit obligations, as they fall due is met. As a result, the Committee place a high degree of 
importance on ensuring the expected return on the assets is sufficient to do so and does not have to rely on a 
level of risk which the Committee considers excessive. The Fund currently has a negative cash flow position. The 
Committee is mindful that this position may change in future and keeps the liquidity within the Fund monitored.  
At all times the Committee seeks to ensure that their investment decisions, including those involving 
diversification, are the best long-term interest of Fund beneficiaries and seeks appropriate advice from 
investment advisors.  
 
2.5 To mitigate these risks the Committee regularly reviews both the performance and expected returns from 
the Fund’s investments to measure whether it has met and is likely to meet in future its return objective. In 
addition to keeping their investment strategy and policy under regular review the Committee will keep this ISS 
under review to ensure that it reflects the approaches being taken.  
 
3. Objective 7.2(b): The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of 
investment  
 
3.1 When assessing the suitability of investments, the Committee takes into account a number of factors:  

 Prospective return 

 Risk  

 Concentration  

 Risk management qualities the asset has, when the portfolio as a whole is considered  

 Geographic and currency exposures  

 Whether the management of the asset meets the Fund’s ESG criteria.  
 
3.2 Suitability is a critical test for whether or not a particular investment should be made.  
 
3.3 Each of the Fund’s investments has an individual performance benchmark which their reported performance 
is measured against.  
 
3.4 The policy on asset allocation is compatible with achieving the locally determined solvency target. 
 
3.5 The Committee monitors the suitability of the Fund’s assets on a quarterly basis. To that end they monitor 
the investment returns and the volatility of the individual investments together with the Fund level returns and 
risk. This latter point being to ensure the risks caused by interactions between investments within the portfolio 
is properly understood. Where comparative statistics are available the Committee will also compare the Fund 
asset performance with those of similar funds.   
 
3.6 The Committee relies on external advice in relation to the collation of the statistics for review. 

Page 10



4. Objective 7.2(c): The authority’s approach to risk, including ways in which risks are to be measured and 
managed  
 
4.1 The Committee recognises that there are a number of risks involved in the investment of the assets of the 
Fund amongst which are the following:  
 
4.2 Geopolitical and currency risks:  

 are measured by the value of assets (the concentration risk), in any one market leading to the risk of 
an adverse influence on investment values arising from political intervention; and  

 are managed by regular reviews of the actual investments relative to policy and through regular 
assessment of the levels of diversification within the existing policy.  

 
4.3 Manager risk:  

 is measured by the expected deviation of the prospective risk and return as set out in the manager(s) 
investment objectives, relative to the investment policy; and  

 is managed by monitoring the actual deviation of returns relative to the objective and factors inherent 
in the manager(s) investment process.  

 
4.4 Solvency and mismatching risk:  

 are measured through a qualitative and quantitative assessment of the expected development of the 
liabilities relative to the current and alternative investment policies; and  

 are managed by assessing the progress of the actual growth of the liabilities relative to the selected 
investment policy.  

 
4.5 Liquidity risk:  

 is measured by the level of cash flow required over a specified period; and  

 managed by assessing the level of cash held in order to limit the impact of the cash flow requirements 
on the investment cash policy  

 
4.6 Custodial risk:  

 is measured by assessing the creditworthiness of the global custodian and the ability of the organisation 
to settle trades on time and provide secure safekeeping of the assets under custody.  

 
4.7 Employer contributions are based upon financial and demographic assumptions determined by the actuary. 
The main risks to the Fund are highlighted within the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS). The risks to the Fund 
are controlled in the following ways:  
 

 The adoption and monitoring of asset allocation benchmarks, ranges and performance targets 
constrain the investment managers from deviating significantly from the intended approach while 
permitting the flexibility for managers to enhance returns  

 The appointment of more than one manager with different mandates and approaches provides for the 
diversification of manager risk  

 
4.8 The investment management agreements constrain the manager’s actions in areas of particular risk and set 
out the respective responsibilities of both the manager and the Fund.  
 
4.9 The Committee are aware investment risk is only one aspect of the risks facing the Fund. The other key risk 
they are aware of is the ability of the Fund to meet the future liabilities, support the investment risk (i.e. the 
level of volatility of investment returns) and underwrite actuarial risk, namely the volatility in the actuarial 
funding position and the impact this has on contributions.  

 

4.10 The Committee are of the view that the diversification of the Fund assets is sufficiently broad to ensure the 
investment risk is low and will continue to be low. When putting in place the investment strategy the Committee 
carefully considered both the individual asset risk characteristics and those of the combined portfolio to ensure 
the risks were appropriate. Estimating the likely volatility of future investment returns is difficult as it relies on 
both estimates of individual asset class returns and the correlation between them. These can be based on 

Page 11



historic asset class information for some of the listed asset classes the Fund uses. However, for other private 
market and less liquid assets it is much more difficult. The Committee is also mindful that correlations change 
over time and at times of stress can be significantly different from when they are in more benign market 
conditions.  
 
4.11 To help manage risk the Committee uses an external investment adviser to monitor the risk. In addition, 
when carrying out their investment strategy review the Committee also had different investment advisers’ asses 
the level of risk involved.  
 
4.12 The Fund targets a long-term return 4.8% as aligned with the latest triennial valuation from the Actuary. 
The investment strategy is considered to have a low degree of volatility.  
 
4.13 When reviewing the investment strategy on a quarterly basis the Committee considers advice from their 
advisers and the need to take additional steps to protect the value of the assets that may arise or capitalise on 
opportunities if they are deemed suitable. In addition to this the risk registers are updated on a quarterly basis, 
appendix F. 
 
4.14 At each review of the Investment Strategy Statement the assumptions on risk and return and their impact 
on asset allocation will be reviewed.  
 
5 Objective 7.2(d): The authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective investment 
vehicles 
 
5.1 The Fund recognises the Government’s requirement for LGPS funds to pool their investments and is 
committed to pursuing a pooling solution that ensures maximum cost effectiveness for the Fund, both in terms 
of return and management cost.  
 
5.2 The Funds approach to pooling arrangements meet the criteria set out in the Local government pension 
scheme: investment reform criteria and guidance. 
 
5.3 The Fund joined the London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV) as part of the Government’s pooling 
agenda. The London CIV was launched in December 2015 by the 32 local authorities within London and has circa 
£18bn of assets under management, including £8bn under direct management, with 14 funds launched as of 
2019/20.  
 
5.4 The Fund has transitioned assets into the London CIV with a value of £414m or 27% as at the 31 December 
2019. Going forward the Fund will look to transition further assets as and when there are suitable investment 
strategies available on the platform that meet the needs of the Fund.  
 
5.5 The Fund is monitoring developments and the opening of investment strategy fund openings on the London 
CIV platform with a view to transitioning assets across to the London CIV as soon as there are appropriate sub-
funds to meet the Fund’s investment strategy requirements.  
 
5.6 The Fund holds 43% or £661m of its assets in life funds and intends to retain these outside of the London 
CIV in accordance with government guidance on the retention of life funds outside pools for the time being. The 
Fund agrees for the London CIV to monitor the passive funds as part of the broader pool.  
 
5.7 The Fund holds £379m or 25% of the Fund within investment assets including property, bonds and 
infrastructure, and these will remain outside of the London CIV pool. A further £72m or 5% held with a global 
equity manager is due to be transitioned in to global infrastructure as the fund draws down. The cost of exiting 
these strategies early would have a negative financial impact on the Fund. These will be held as legacy assets 
until such time as they mature and proceeds re-invest through the pool assuming it has appropriate strategies 
available or until the Fund changes asset allocation and makes a decision to disinvest.  
 
 
 
 

Page 12



5.8 The table below details the investment funds held by the Pension Fund and indicates whether this mandate 
is available on the LCIV platform and how much had been transferred as at 31 December 2019. 
 

City of Westminster Fund Available 
on the 
LCIV 

Transferred 
to LCIV 

Listed Equities     

Passive Equities: LGIM Yes  £645m  

Global: Baillie Gifford Yes  £322m  

Global: Longview Yes   

Cash     

In-house No   

Fixed Income     

Multi Asset Credit: CQS Yes  £94m  

Global Bonds: Insight No   

Infrastructure     

Infrastructure: Pantheon No   

Property     

Property: Hermes No   

Property: Aberdeen Standard No   

 
5.9 The Pension Fund Committee is aware that certain assets held within the Fund have limited liquidity and 
moving them would come at a cost. Whilst it is the expectation to make use of the London CIV for the 
management of the majority of the Fund assets in the longer term, the Committee recognises that transitioning 
from the current structure to the London CIV will be a protracted exercise spread over a number of years to 
ensure unnecessary costs are not incurred.  
 
5.10 At each review of the investment strategy, which will happen at least every three years, the investment of 
the above assets will be actively considered by the City of Westminster Pension Fund, and in particular whether 
a collective investment option is appropriate.  
 
5.11 The London CIV is an FCA authorised company established by the London Local Authorities (LLAs) to provide 
a collaborative vehicle for pooling LGPS pension fund assets. London CIV shareholders approved a new 
Corporate Governance and Controls framework at the July 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM). This framework 
details the governance arrangements for approving the London CIV’s annual budget, business plan and 
objectives, governance structures and appointments, shareholder agreement and transparency of information 
and reporting. It was agreed to review the framework after one year of operation which provides an opportunity 
to assess how it can be improved further, in particular to improve its effectiveness in achieving collaboration 
and an effective working relation between London CIV and its 32 shareholders collectively.  
 
5.12 The London CIV Company Board comprises of an independent Chairman, 7 non-executive Directors (NEDs), 
including 2 nominated by the LLAs, 3 executive Directors and the LCIV Treasurer. The Board has a duty to act in 
the best interests of the shareholders and has collective responsibility for: 

 Strategy and Oversight 

 Budget &forward plan 

 Reviews performance 

 Major contracts and significant decisions including in relation to funds 

 Financial reporting & controls 

 Compliance, risk and internal controls 

 Key policies 
 Governance 

 
5.13 The London CIV has four Committees, responsible for investment oversight, audit and risk, remuneration 
and nominations and day to day operations of the company. These comprise of executive and non-executive 
members.  
 

Page 13



The role of the Investment Oversight Committee is to: 

 determine, maintain and monitor the Company’s investment strategy, investment performance and 
performance risks of the portfolios in accordance with the Company strategy and business plan. 

 
The responsibilities of the Compliance, Audit & Risk Committee include: 

 oversee compliance obligations; 

 risk management framework; and 

 integrity of financial statements and reporting 
 
The responsibilities of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee include: 

 remuneration policy; 

 remuneration of key staff; and 

 nominations and succession planning of key staff and Board members. 
 
The Executive Directors acting collectively as the Executive Committee have a number of specific delegated 
responsibilities for the day-to-day operations of the company, supported by the wider executive leadership 
team. The role of the Executive Committee in summary is to: 

 execute board-approved strategic objectives and business plan in line with risk appetite and financial 
limits; 

 identify, discuss, and formulate effective solutions to address issues and opportunities facing the 
Company; 

 ensure the day-to-day operations meet relevant legal requirements and compliance obligations of the 
Company; and 

 ensure the Board & Board Committee members receive timely, accurate and transparent management 
information & reporting to fulfil their duties & responsibilities. 

 
5.14 The London CIV Shareholder Committee is responsible for scrutinising the actions of the Board, reporting 
and transparency, consultation on the strategy and business plan, matters reserved to shareholders, responsible 
investment and emerging issues. The Committee meets on a quarterly basis and comprises of 12 members 
including Councillors and Treasurers from the LLAs.  
 
5.15 The London CIV hosts an AGM on a semi-annual basis, to which all 32 members are invited. This allows 
members the opportunity to exercise shareholder power, approve the annual budget and hold the Board to 
account.  
 
5.16 External independent oversight and assurance of the pool company is provided by the FCA, depositary, 
external auditors and the MHCLG. 
 
5.17 More information on the London CIV and its operation is included in Appendix C of this statement.  

 
6 Objective 7.2(e): How social, environmental or corporate governance considerations are taken into account 
in the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments  

 
6.1 A review of the Fund’s carbon exposure was undertaken by TruCost during September 2019, whereby the 
Fund’s equity and property portfolio carbon footprints were mapped. Following this, a responsible investment  
(RI) policy and ESG policy was drafted for the Fund to be adopted by the Committee for 2020/21. The RI Policy 
outlines the approach to the management of Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) issues within the 
investment portfolio and can be fund within appendix D. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



The Present ESG Policy  
 
Introduction 
 
6.2 The City of Westminster (WCC) Pension Fund (the Pension Fund) is committed to being a responsible investor 
and a long-term steward of the assets in which it invests. The Fund has a fiduciary duty to act in the best interests 
of its beneficiaries and this extends to making a positive contribution to the long-term sustainability of the global 
environment. 
 
6.3 The Pension Fund recognises that the neglect of corporate social responsibility and poor attention paid to 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues may lead to poor or reduced shareholder returns. This 
presents a significant responsibility for the Pension Fund Committee (the Committee). The ESG approach has 
become integral to the Fund’s overall investment strategy. 
 
6.4 The Fund maintains a policy of non-interference with the day-to-day decision making of the investment 
managers. The Committee believes that this is the most efficient approach whilst ensuring the implementation 
of policy by each manager is consistent with current best practice and the appropriate disclosure and reporting 
of actions. 
 
6.5 There are a wide range of ESG issues, with none greater currently than climate change and carbon reduction. 
The Pension Fund recognises climate change as the biggest threat to global sustainability alongside its 
administering authority employer, Westminster City Council, which has committed itself to achieving carbon 
neutrality by 2030. 
 
6.6 Members of the Pension Fund place their trust in the Pension Fund Committee who hold a fiduciary duty to 
act in the members’ best interests and ensure that their pension benefits are fully honoured in retirement. That 
is why, as well as targeting investment returns that match the pension liabilities, the Committee is committed 
to managing the investment risks: the risks that pose a substantial threat to LGPS members’ long-term future. 
 
6.7 The Pension Fund’s revised investment strategy should be governed by the following investment principles, 
which are set out below 
 

6.8 Investment Principles 

 The Pension Fund as a long-term investor, is committed to investing to build a better future 
through the integration of ESG issues at all stages of the investment decision-making process. 

 

 Through active ownership, the Pension Fund engages with the investment community to help 
ensure a sustainable future for all its stakeholders. This includes demanding best practice amongst 
its investment managers and challenging their investment outcomes where appropriate. 

 

 The Pension Fund recognises that significant value can be achieved through collaboration with 
other stakeholders. The Pension Fund will work closely with its LGPS pool company (the London 
CIV), other LGPS funds and member groups such as the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 
(LAPFF) to ensure corporate interests are aligned with the Pension Fund’s values. 

 

 The Pension Fund wants to make members proud of the governance process and the way in which 
in the Fund is invested on their behalf. It is important for the Pension Fund to be completely 
transparent and accountable to members and stakeholders.  

 

6.9 Policy Implementation: investing to build a better future 

The Pension Fund will continue to assess investment opportunities that have a positive impact on society as 
whole. These include but are not limited to, investments in fixed income (green bonds), property, low carbon 
assets, renewables and social impact opportunities. The Fund currently has a 5% allocation to global 
infrastructure, where the asset manager has the freedom to invest within renewables if a suitable venture 
presents itself. 

Page 15



The Pension Fund views engagement with companies as an essential activity and encourages companies to take 
position action towards reversing climate change. The Westminster Pension Fund is a responsible owner of 
companies and cannot exert that positive influence if it has completely divested from carbon intensive producing 
companies. The Pension Fund will continue to encourage positive change whilst officers will continue to engage 
with the investment managers on an ongoing basis to monitor overall investment performance, including carbon 
and other ESG considerations. 
 

6.10 Policy Implementation: engaging with investment community 

Institutional investors have the power to influence and change behaviour globally. The WCC Pension Fund 
believes that there is significant value in being able to actively engage with the companies we invest in and be 
part of the transition to a global, low carbon economy. 
 
The Fund expects managers to integrate ESG factors into investment analysis and decision making. Monitoring 
these effectively can assist with resolving issues at early stages through effective engagement with companies 
and board members. The Fund expects asset managers where possible to engage and collaborate with other 
institutional investors, as permitted by relevant legal codes to ensure the greatest impact. 
 
The measurement of ESG performance is still developing and benefitting from significant improvements. There 
are several performance benchmarks and disclosure frameworks that exist to measure the different aspects of 
available ESG data which include carbon emissions and a variety of social impact scores. 

 

 The Pension Fund carries out a carbon footprint exercise on its separate portfolios annually via a 
specialist firm. The outcome of this measurement exercise will be instrumental in ensuring that the 
fund is able to meet its decarbonisation goals through effective asset allocation. 

 

 The Pension Fund will continue to work closely with its investment managers to measure the 
carbon impact of its investments. This will involve developing internal metrics and agreed targets 
which will be reviewed on a regular basis. 

 
Increasingly, there is growing interest in the investment community to develop investment strategies that focus 
on sustainable investments. As well as the wider investment community, the Pension Fund will support and 
contribute to the work carried out by the London CIV in the development of sustainable investments. 
 

6.11 Policy Implementation: collaboration with other stakeholders 

The introduction of pooling across the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) will impact how the Pension 
Fund’s responsible investment policy is implemented. The WCC fund is committed to playing a key role as part 
of the LGPS London CIV pool, with circa 70% of assets pooled. 
 
As asset owners, the Pension Fund, in line with its investment strategy, is responsible for deciding how its assets 
are invested through its strategic asset allocation. In addition to engaging with the investment community, the 
Pension Fund will continue to work closely with other UK and London LGPS funds to find common solutions for 
ESG issues. 
 
As more funds are onboarded into the London CIV, the Pension Fund expects to further increase its investment 
in the pool. This is expected to create economies of scale and increased synergies for the Pension Fund through 
a significant reduction in management fees and greater influence when engaging with external stakeholders. 
The London CIV will manage the Pension Fund’s investments in line with the Fund’s strategic objectives and 
those of the other London LGPS Funds. 
 
The Pension Fund actively contributes to the engagement efforts of pressure groups, such as the Local Authority 
Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and requires investment managers to vote in accordance with the LAPPF’s 
governance policies. In exceptional cases, investment managers will be required to explain their reason for not 
doing so, preferably in advance of the AGM. This will be monitored on a regular basis. 

 

Page 16



6.12 Policy Implementation: making our members proud 

WCC’s LGPS members have spent at least part of their careers helping to deliver key services to their community. 
It is important for them to understand how their Pension Fund is managed and the contribution its investments 
make in securing a sustainable future. Members are encouraged to take an active interest in the governance 
processes of their Pension Fund and their views are represented within the work of the Local Pension Board. 
 
The Pension Fund will aim to provide members with a variety of information which allows them to easily 
understand the types of investments within the portfolio. 
 
The Pension Fund reports on its overall performance annually through an annual report which is readily 
accessible to members on the fund’s website. 
 
Data within the annual report will include investment performance, an assessment of the key performance 
indicators (KPIs) of the Fund’s administrative function and the Fund’s assessment of its many risks. 
 
The Pension Fund hosts an annual general meeting (AGM), following the end of the financial year, which all 
members and key stakeholders are invited to attend. This includes updates on the administration service, 
investment performance from our investment advisor, as well as a market update from an asset manager and a 
presentation from our actuary. 
 

7 Objective 7.2(f): The exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments  
 
The Present Policy  
 
7.1 The Committee has delegated the Fund’s voting rights to the investment managers, who are required, where 
practical, to make considered use of voting in the interests of the Fund. The Committee expects the investment 
managers to vote in the best interests of the Fund. In addition, the Fund expects its investment managers to 
work collaboratively with others if this will lead to greater influence and deliver improved outcomes for 
shareholders and more broadly.  
 
7.2 The Fund through its participation in the London CIV will work closely with other LGPS Funds in London to 
enhance the level of engagement both with external managers and the underlying companies in which invests. 
 
7.3 In addition the Fund:  

 Is a member of the Pension and Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA) and the Local Authority Pension 
Fund Forum (LAPFF) and in this way joins with other investors to magnify its voice and maximise the 
influence of investors as asset owners; and 

 Joins wider lobbying activities where appropriate opportunities arise.  
 
7.4 Ongoing voting and engagement is covered with the Funds Responsible Investment Policy (Appendix D). 
 
7.5 The Committee expects any directly appointed asset managers and the pool company (London CIV) to 
comply with the Stewardship Code (2020) and this is monitored on an annual basis. See appendix B and C for 
further details on the Funds approach to stewardship. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



8 Feedback on this statement  
 
Any feedback on this Investment Strategy Statement is welcomed. If you have any comments or wish to 
discuss any issues, then please contact:  
 
Tri-Borough Treasury and Pensions Team 
PensionFund@westminster.gov.uk 
 
Westminster City Council 
16th Floor City Hall 
Tri-Borough Treasury and Pensions Team 
64 Victoria Street 
London 
SW1E 6QP 

Page 18

mailto:PensionFund@westminster.gov.uk


Investment Strategy Statement:         Appendix A  
 
Compliance with CIPFA Pensions Panel Principles for investment decision making in the local government 
pension scheme in United Kingdom  
 
Decision Making  
 
Regulation 12(3) of The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2009 requires an administering authority to report on its compliance with the six Myners’ Principles, in 
accordance with guidance given by the Secretary of State. The guidance for the Local Government Pension 
Scheme is set out in the CIPFA publication “Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Government 
Pension Scheme in the United Kingdom 2012’,  
 
The Fund aims to comply with all of the Myners’ Principles, recognising it is in all parties’ interests if the Fund 
operates to standards of investment decision-making and governance identified as best practice. It is also 
recognised as important to demonstrate how the Fund meets such principles and best practice.  
 
The Secretary of State has previously highlighted the principle contained in Roberts v. Hopwood whose 
administering bodies exercise their duties and powers under regulations governing the investment and 
management of Funds:  
 
“A body charged with the administration for definite purposes of funds contributed in whole or in part by 
persons other than members of that body owes, in my view, a duty to those latter persons to conduct that 
administration in a fairly business-like manner with reasonable care, skill and caution, and with a due and alert 
regard to the interest of those contributors who are not members of the body. Towards these latter persons the 
body stands somewhat in the position of trustees or managers of others”.  
 
The Myners’ Principles are seen as supporting this approach. The principles, together with the Fund’s position 
on compliance, are set out below:  
 
Principle 1 - Effective decision-making  
 
Administrating authorities should ensure that:  
 

 Decisions are taken by persons or organisations with the skills, knowledge, advice and resources 
necessary to make them effectively and monitor their implementation; and  

 Those persons or organizations have sufficient expertise to be able to evaluate and challenge the 
advice they receive and manage conflicts of interest.  

 
Full Compliance  
The Council has delegated the management and administration of the Fund to the Committee, which meets at 
least quarterly. The responsibilities of the Committee are described in paragraph 1.4 of the ISS.  
The Committee is made up of elected members of the Council who each have voting rights.   
 
The Committee obtains and considers advice from and is supported by the Executive Director of Finance and 
Resources, Tri-Borough Director of Treasury & Pensions, and as necessary from the Fund’s appointed actuary, 
investment managers and advisors. 
 
The Committee has delegated the management of the Fund’s investments to professional investment managers, 
appointed in accordance with the scheme’s regulations, whose activities are specified in detailed investment 
management agreements and regularly monitored.  
 
Business plans are presented to the Committee annually.  
 
Several of the Committee members have extensive experience of dealing with Investment matters and training 
is made available to new Committee members.  

Page 19



 
Principle 2 - Clear objectives  
 
An overall investment objective(s) should be set for the Fund that takes account of the pension liabilities, the 
potential impact on local tax payers, the strength of the covenant for non-local authority employers, and the 
attitude to risk of both the administering authority and scheme employers, and these should be clearly 
communicated to advisors and investment managers.  
 
Full Compliance  
The aims and objectives of the Fund are set out within the FSS and within the ISS. The main fund objective is to 
meet the cost of pension liabilities and to enable employer contribution rates to be kept as nearly constant as 
possible at reasonable cost to the taxpayers and admitted bodies.  
 
The investment strategy has been set with the objective of controlling the risk that the assets will not be 
sufficient to meet the liabilities of the Fund while achieving a good return on investment (see paragraphs 4 and 
5 above). The approach taken reflects the Fund’s liabilities and was decided upon without reference to any other 
funds. The Fund’s performance is measured against the investment objective on a quarterly basis.  
The Fund’s strategy is regularly reviewed.  
 
Principle 3 – Risk and liabilities  
 
In setting and reviewing their investment strategy, administrating authorities should take account of the 
form and structure of liabilities. These include the implications for local tax payers, the strength of the 
covenant for participating employers, the risk of their default and longevity risk.  
 
Full Compliance  
The Committee has, in conjunction with its advisers, agreed an investment strategy that is related to the Fund’s 
liabilities. An actuarial valuation of the Fund takes place every three years, with the most recent triennial 
valuation taking place in 2019. The investment strategy is designed to give diversification and specialisation and 
achieve optimum return against acceptable risk.  
 
The asset allocation of the Fund is set to maximise the potential to close the funding deficit over future years. 
The current asset allocation is outlined in appendix E. 
 
Principle 4 – Performance Assessment  
 
Arrangements should be in place for the formal measurement of performance of the investments, 
investment managers and advisors. Administering authorities should also periodically make a formal 
assessment of their own effectiveness as a decision-making body and report on this to scheme members  
 
Full Compliance  
The IAC has appointed investment managers with clear index strategic benchmarks (see paragraph 4.2 above) 
within an overall Investment objective which place maximum accountability for performance against that 
benchmark on the manager.  
 
The managers are monitored at quarterly intervals against their agreed benchmarks, and independent detailed 
monitoring of the Fund’s performance is carried out by Deloitte, the Fund’s advisor and by Northern Trust, the 
Fund’s custodian who provide the performance figures. Moreover, portfolio risk is measured on quarterly basis 
and the risk/return implications of different strategic options are fully evaluated.  
The advisor is assessed on the appropriateness of asset allocation recommendations and the quality of advice 
given.  
 
The actuary is assessed on the quality and consistency of the actuarial advice received. Both the advisor and the 
actuary have fixed term contracts which when expired are tendered for under the OJEU procedures.  
The Committee monitors the investment decisions it has taken, including the effectiveness of these decisions. 
In addition, the Committee receives quarterly reports as to how the Fund has performed against their 
investment objective.  

Page 20



 
In order to comply with the CMA investment consultancy and Fiduciary Management Market Investigation Order 
2019, The Fund’s investment advisors are measured annually against an agreed set of criteria which was agreed 
by Committee at the 23 October 2019 meeting.  
 
Principle 5 – Responsible Ownership  
 
Administering authorities should:  

 Adopt, or ensure their investment managers adopt, the Institutional Shareholders Committee 
Statement of Principles on the responsibilities of shareholders and agents.  

 Include a statement of their policy on responsible ownership in the statement of investment 
principles.  

 Report periodically to scheme members on the discharge of such responsibilities.  

 
Full Compliance  
The Fund is committed to making full use of its shareholder rights. The approach used is outlined in paragraph 
8 of the ISS and in the Fund’s Responsible Investment (RI) Policy (Appendix D). Authority has been delegated to 
the investment managers to exercise voting rights on behalf of the Fund. The investment managers are required 
to report how they have voted in their quarterly reports.   
 
The Fund believes in using its influence as a shareholder to promote corporate social responsibility and high 
standards of corporate governance in the companies in which it invests – the Fund’s approach to this is outlined 
in paragraph 7 of the ISS and in the Fund’s RI Policy (Appendix D). 
 
Principle 6 – Transparency and reporting  
 
Administering authorities should: 

 Act in a transparent manner, communicating with stakeholders on issues relating to their 
management of investments, its governance and risks, including performance against stated 
objectives.  

 Provide regular communications to scheme members in the form they consider most appropriate.  

 
Full Compliance  
 
Links to the Governance Compliance Statement, the ISS, the FSS, and the Communications Statement are all 
included in the Pensions Fund Annual Report which is published and is accessible to stakeholders of the Fund on 
the Council’s web site, and a website developed specifically for the Fund.  
 
All Committee meetings are open to members of the public and agendas and minutes are published on the 
Council’s website and internal intranet.  
 

Page 21



Investment Strategy Statement:         Appendix B  
 
Compliance with the Stewardship Code  
 
The Stewardship Code is a set of principles or guidelines released in 2010 and updated in 2020 by the Financial 
Reporting Council (FRC) directed at institutional investors who hold voting rights in United Kingdom 
companies. Its principal aim is to make shareholders, who manage other people's money, be active and 
engage in corporate governance in the interests of their beneficiaries.  
 
The Code applies to pension funds and adopts the same "comply or explain" approach used in the UK 
Corporate Governance Code. This means that it does not require compliance with principles but if fund 
managers and institutional investors do not comply with any of the principles set out, they must explain why 
they have not done so. The Committee has not formally adopted the latest version of the Stewardship code, 
however expects any directly appointed fund managers and the pool company (London CIV) to comply and this 
is monitored on an annual basis.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 

Investment Strategy Statement:        Appendix C 
 
Information on London CIV  
Stewardship Statement is attached – Other London CIV details are included in ISS main Statement  
 
The London Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) was formed as a voluntary collaborative venture by the London 
Local Authorities in 2014 to invest the assets of London Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The London 
CIV and its London Local Authority investors recognise the importance of being long term stewards of capital 
and in so doing supports the UK Stewardship Code, which it recognises as best practice.  
 
The London LGPS CIV Limited (“London CIV”) is fully authorised by the FCA as an Alternative Investment Fund 
Manager (AIFM) with permission to operate a UK based Authorised Contractual Scheme fund (ACS Fund). The 
London CIV in the management of its investments has appointed a number of external investment managers. 
We therefore see our role as setting the tone for the effective delivery of stewardship managers on our behalf 
and on behalf of our investing Funds. We are clear that we retain responsibility for this being done properly and 
fully in the interests of our own shareholders.  
 
This Statement sets out how the London CIV implements the seven principles of the Code.  
 
Principle 1  
Institutional investors should publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their stewardship 
responsibilities.  
 
The London CIV on behalf of its London Local Authority Shareholders recognises its position as an investor on 
their behalf with ultimate responsibility to members and beneficiaries and recognises that effective stewardship 
can help protect and enhance the long-term value of its investments to the ultimate benefit of all stakeholders 
in the LGPS.  
 
As we do not invest directly in companies, we hold our fund managers accountable for the delivery of 
stewardship on our behalf in terms of day-to-day implementation of its stewardship activity. We require the 
appointed fund management teams to be responsible for holding to account the management and boards of 
companies in which they invest. The London CIV believes that this approach is compatible with its stewardship 
responsibilities as it is the most effective and efficient manner in which it can promote and carry out stewardship 
activities in respect of its investments and ensure the widest reach of these activities given the London CIV’s 
investment arrangements. 
 
A key related area where stewardship is integrated into the wider process is in the selection and monitoring of 
external investment managers. When considering the appointment of external investment managers, the 
consideration of Environmental Social and Governance (ESG) integration and stewardship activity of each 
investment manager is part of the selection process.  
 
The London CIV expects its equity investment managers to adhere to the principles within the UK Stewardship 
Code. This position is communicated to the Fund’s investment managers and forms the basis of the approach to 
monitoring the investment managers as outlined in this document. Whilst the Stewardship Code is primarily 
directed at UK equity investments, the London CIV encourages its investment managers to apply the principles 
of the Code to overseas equity holdings where possible.  
 
The primary mechanisms for the application of effective stewardship for the London CIV are exercise of voting 
rights and engagement with investee companies. The London CIV expects its external equity investment 
managers that invest directly in companies, to pursue both these mechanisms. We receive quarterly reporting 
from managers which includes their stewardship and voting activities where appropriate. We seek consistently 
to ensure that these stewardship activities are carried out actively and effectively in the furtherance of good 
long-term investment returns 
 

Page 23



We expect all of the London CIV’s equity managers to be signatories to the Code and have publicly disclosed 
their policy via their Statements on how they will discharge their stewardship responsibilities. We expect 
managers that invest in companies directly to discharge their responsibilities by: 
 

 having extensive dialogue with the company’s management throughout the year on a range of topics 
such as governance, financial performance and strategy; and  

 voting, either directly or via the services of voting agencies.  
 
Principle 2  
Institutional investors should have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to 
stewardship which should be publicly disclosed.  
 
Day-to-day implementation of the Fund’s stewardship activity has been delegated to external investment 
managers. The London CIV expects its investment managers to document their approach to stewardship, which 
should include how they manage any conflicts of interest that arise to ensure that the interests of the London 
CIV’s Investors are prioritised.  
 
The London CIV will review annually the conflicts of interest policy of its managers and how any conflicts have 
been managed during the year. The London CIV has policies in place to manage conflicts of interest that may 
arise for the Board and its officers when making decisions on its behalf. The Conflicts of Interest policy is 
reviewed by the London CIV board on a regular basis. A Conflicts of Interest Register is maintained. Shareholders 
of the London CIV attending the Pensions Sectoral Joint Committee are required to declare any conflicts of 
interest at the start of any meeting.  
 
Principle 3  
Institutional investors should monitor their investee companies.  
 
We recognise that active and ongoing monitoring of companies is the foundation of good stewardship, 
reminding companies in which we invest that they have obligations to their shareholders to deliver returns over 
the appropriate long-term investment timeframe and, consistent with this, to manage any related 
environmental and social risks responsibly.  
 
The London CIV requires its external investment managers to monitor investee companies. Issues to be 
monitored are likely to vary, however typically these might include a company’s corporate strategy, financial 
performance, risk (including those from environmental and social factors), capital structure, leadership team 
and corporate governance. The London CIV encourages its investment managers to satisfy themselves that 
investee companies adhere to the spirit of the UK Corporate Governance Code.  
 
The London CIV reviews investment managers in this area as part of their regular meetings. For equity 
investment managers this includes consideration of: 
 

 who has overall responsibility for ESG risk analysis and integration;  

 resources and experience of the team;  

 at what stages of the process ESG risks are considered;  

 exposures to environmental, social or governance risk within the portfolio; and  

 the investment manager’s willingness to become an insider and, if so, whether the manager has a policy 
setting out the mechanisms through which this is done.  

 
Principle 4  
Institutional investors should establish clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate their 
stewardship activities.  
 
The London CIV recognises that constructive engagement with company management can help protect and 
enhance shareholder value. Typically, the London CIV expects its investment managers to intervene with 
investee companies when they view that there are material risks or issues that are not currently being 
adequately addressed.  

Page 24



The London CIV reviews investment managers in this area as part of their regular meeting. For equity investment 
managers that invest directly in Companies, this includes consideration of:  

 whether voting activity has led to any changes in company practice;  

 whether the investment manager’s policy specifies when and how they will escalate engagement 
activities;  

 overall engagement statistics (volume and areas of focus);  

 example of most intensive engagement activity discussed as part of the manager’s annual review 
meeting; and  

 the estimated performance impact of engagement on the strategy in question.  

 Given the range of fund managers and Fund investments, the London CIV carries out its monitoring at 
the manager level to identify:  

 trends to ensure progress is being made in stewardship activities;  

 specific managers where progress or the rate of progress is not adequate; and  

 appropriate specific actions necessary. 
 

Principle 5  
Institutional investors should be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate.  
 
As day-to-day management of the Fund’s assets has been delegated to external investment managers, the 
London CIV expects its investment managers to get involved in collective engagement where this is an efficient 
means to protect and enhance long-term shareholder value.   
 
In addition, the London CIV will work collectively with other investors including other LGPS Asset pools and the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) to enhance the impact of their engagement activities 
 
Principle 6  
Institutional investors should have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity.  
 
The London CIV has delegated its voting rights to the Fund’s investment managers and requires them to vote, 
except where it is impractical to do so. The London CIV also monitors the voting alerts of the LAPFF and where 
these are issued, requires the investment managers to take account of these alerts as far as practical to do so. 
Where the investment manager does not vote in line with the LAPFF voting alerts, the London CIV will require 
detailed justification for non-compliance.  

 
The London CIV reviews and monitors the voting policies and activities of its investment managers, this includes 
consideration of:  

• the manager’s voting policy and, what areas are covered;  
• the level of voting activity  

• whether the investment manager typically informs companies of their rationale when voting against or 
abstaining (and whether this is typically in advance of the vote or not);  

• if securities lending takes place within a pooled fund for the strategy, whether the stock is recalled for 
all key votes for all stocks held in the portfolio; and  

• whether a third-party proxy voting service provider is used and, if so, how.  
 
Principle 7  
Institutional investors should report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities.  
 
The London CIV encourages transparency from its investment managers and expects its managers to report 
publicly on their voting in an appropriate manner.  
 
In addition, the London CIV receives reviews and monitors quarterly the voting and stewardship engagement 
activities of its investment managers. The London CIV reports quarterly to its investors and will include 
information on voting and engagement activities from investment managers where appropriate including 
updates as required on updated stewardship and voting policies of managers. The London CIV also requires its 
managers to provide it with annual assurances on internal controls and compliance through recognised 
framework such as the AAF01/06 or equivalent.  

Page 25



 
This statement will be reviewed regularly and updated as necessary. 
Responsible Investment Policy:         Appendix D 
 

Introduction 

1.1. Responsible Investment is defined by the United Nation’s ‘Principles for Responsible Investment’ 
document as an approach to investing that aims to incorporate environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) factors into investment decisions, to better manage risk and to generate sustainable, long term 
returns. The Pension Fund’s approach to responsible investment is aligned with the Fund’s investment 
beliefs and recognises ESG factors as central themes in measuring the sustainability and impact of its 
investments. 

  

1.2. Failure to appropriately manage ESG factors is considered to be a key risk for the Pension Fund as this 
can have an adverse impact on the Fund’s overall investment performance, which ultimately affects the 
scheme members, employers and local council tax payers. 

 

1.3. The United Nations has established 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) as a blueprint to 
achieving a better and more sustainable future for all. These goals aim to address the challenges of 
tackling climate change, supporting industry, innovation and infrastructure, and investing in companies 
that are focused on playing a key role in building that sustainable future.  

 

1.4. The Pension Fund acknowledges that these goals form a vital part of acting as a responsible investor 
alongside its administering authority employer, Westminster City Council, with the Council having 
recently committed itself to achieving carbon neutrality by the year 2030. 

 

1.5. The Pension Fund maintains a policy of engagement with all its stakeholders, including those operating 
in the investment industry. It is broadly recognised that, in the foreseeable future, the global economy 
will transition from its reliance on fossil fuels to the widespread adoption of renewable energy as its 
main source. The impact of this transition on the sustainability of investment returns will be continually 
assessed by officers, advisors and investment managers. 

 

1.6. The Pension Fund Committee is committed to playing an active role in the transition to a sustainable 
economic and societal environment. To that extent, the Pension Fund will continue to seek investments 
that match its pensions liability profile, whilst having a positive impact on overall society. Greater 
impact can be achieved through active ownership and lobbying for global companies to change and 
utilise their resources sustainably. 

 

1.7. Notwithstanding these noble objectives, it is important to note that the Pension Fund Committee has 
a vital, fiduciary duty to act in the best interests of the LGPS beneficiaries to ensure that their pension 
benefits are honoured in retirement.  

 

Policy Implementation: Selection Process 

1.8. The Pension Fund Committee delegates the individual investment selection decisions to its investment 
managers. To that extent, the Pension Fund maintains a policy of non-interference with the day-to-day 
decision-making processes of the investment managers. However, as part of its investment manager 
appointment process, the Pension Fund Committee assesses the investment managers’ abilities to 
integrate ESG factors into their investment selection processes.  

 

1.9. This includes, but is not limited to: 
a. evidence of the existence of a Responsible Investment policy; 
b. evidence of ESG integration in the investment process; 

Page 26



c. evidence of sign-up to the relevant responsible investment frameworks such as the United 
Nations Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI); 

d. evidence of compliance with the Stewardship Code as published by the Financial Reporting 

Council (FRC); 
e. a track record of actively engaging with global companies and stakeholders to influence best 

practice; 
f. an ability to appropriately disclose, measure and report on the overall impact of ESG decisions 

made. 

 

1.10. As part of its investment selection process, the Pension Fund Committee will obtain proper advice from 
the Fund’s internal and external advisors with the requisite knowledge and skills. Our investment 
advisor will assess ESG considerations as part of its due diligence process and assess investment 
managers against the following criteria: 

 

a. for active managers, the advisor will assess how ESG issues are integrated into investment 
selection, divestment and retention decisions; 

b. for passive managers, the investment advisor places less focus on ESG issues in the 
investment selection process, and considers ESG issues in its responsible investment 
policy and if the manager engages with global companies and stakeholders where 
appropriate; 

c. consideration of whether managers are making most effective use of voting rights and if 
votes are exercised in a manner consistent with ESG considerations specified by the 
manager; 

d. how significantly managers value ESG issues and whether any specialist teams and 
resources are dedicated to this area; and 

e. how ESG risk assessment is integrated into the portfolio investment selection process and 
the value and effectiveness of these assessments. 

 

1.11. Investment managers are expected to follow best practice and use their influence as major institutional 
investors and long-term stewards of capital to promote best practice in the companies/projects in 
which they invest. Investable companies will be expected to comply with all applicable laws and 
regulations in their respective markets as a minimum. 

 

Policy Implementation: Ongoing Engagement and Voting 

1.12. Whilst it is still quite difficult to quantify the impact of the less tangible non-financial factors on the 
economic performance of an organisation, this is an area that continues to see significant improvement 
in the measurement of benchmarking and organisational progress. Several benchmarks and disclosure 
frameworks exist to measure the different aspects of available ESG data which include carbon 
emissions, diversity on company boards and social impact. It is apparent that poor scoring on these ESG 
factors can have an adverse impact on an organisation’s financial performance. It is therefore important 
for the appointed investment managers to effectively assess the impact such factors may have on the 
underlying investment performance. 
 

1.13. The Pension Fund views active engagement as an essential activity in ensuring long-term value and 
encourages investment managers to consider assessing a range of factors, such as the company’s 
historical financial performance, governance structures, risk management approach, the degree to 
which strategic objectives have been met and environmental, governance and social issues.  

 

1.14. Pension Fund officers will continue to engage with the investment managers on an ongoing basis to 
monitor overall investment performance, including ESG considerations. This can be implemented in 
several forms which include, but are not limited to: 

 

Page 27



a. Regular meetings with investment managers to assess investment performance and the 
progress made towards achieving ESG targets; 

b. reviewing reports issued by investment managers and challenging performance where 
appropriate; 

c. working with investment managers to establish appropriate ESG reporting and disclosures in 
line with the Pension Fund’s objectives; 

d. contributing to various working groups that seek to positively influence the reporting of 
industry standards on ESG metrics; 

e. actively contributing to the efforts of engagement groups such as the Local Authority Pension 
Fund Forum (LAPFF), of which the fund is a member (currently 83 LGPS member funds). 

 

1.15. The Pension Fund holds units in pooled equity funds, where our asset managers will have the 
opportunity to vote at company meetings on our behalf. Engagement with companies can have a direct 
impact on voting choices and fund manager voting and engagement reports are reviewed on a regular 
basis.  

 

1.16. The Fund will continue to collaborate with the London CIV on maintaining a shared voting policy for the 
equity managers on the London CIV platform and actively seek to align these policies with manager 
insights. Lobbying with other London CIV clients will give the Pension Fund greater control and impact 
over our voting choices and a centralised process will ensure our voting remains consistent and has the 
greatest impact.  

 

1.17. The Pension Fund’s officers will work closely with the London CIV pool, through which the Pension Fund 
will increasingly invest, in developing and monitoring its internal frameworks and policies on all ESG 
issues which could present a material financial risk to the long-term performance of the fund. This will 
include the London CIV’s ESG frameworks and policies for investment analysis, decision making and 
responsible investment.  

 
1.18. In preparing and reviewing its Investment Strategy Statement, the Pension Fund will consult with 

interested stakeholders including, but not limited to: 

 
a. Pension Fund employers; 
b. Local Pension Board; 
c. advisors/consultants to the fund; 
d. investment managers. 

 

Policy Implementation: Training 

1.19. The Pension Fund Committee and the Fund’s officers will receive regular training on ESG issues and 
responsible investment. A review of training requirements and needs will be carried out at least once 
on annual basis. Training is intended to cover the latest updates in legislation and regulations, as well 
as best practice with regards to ESG integration into the pension fund’s investment process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 
 
Strategic Asset Allocation:         Appendix E 
 
The below table sets out the Fund’s strategic asset allocation along with review range which would trigger a 
rebalancing exercise. 
 

Strategic Asset Allocation Target 
(%) 

Review 
Range 

Listed Equities 55.0% +/-3.0% 

Passive Equities 18.3%   

Global - Active 36.7%   

Cash 0.0% +/-0.0% 

Cash 0.0%   

Fixed Income 25.0% +/-2.5% 

Global Bonds 13.5%   

Multi Asset Credit 6.5%   

Direct Lending 5.0%   

Alternatives 10.0% +/-1.0% 

Infrastructure 5.0%   

Renewable Infrastructure 5.0%   

Property 10.0% +/-1.0% 

Commercial Property  5.0%  

Residential Property 5.0%   

Total 100.0%   

 
 
Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix F – Investment & Administration Risk Register 

 

To be included in final version, please see FFM report for latest risk registers.  

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited  1 

 

City of Westminster Pension Fund 

Draft Investment Beliefs 
 

This paper has been prepared for the City of Westminster Pension Fund Committee (“the Committee”). The purpose 

of this paper is to provide a draft set of investment beliefs of the Committee for discussion at the extraordinary 

Pension Fund Committee meeting on 20 February 2020. 

Investment objectives in the Investment Strategy Statement (“Statement”) 

To provide a framework for the Committee’s beliefs, the Statement adopted by the City of Westminster Pension 

Fund (“the Fund”) covers each of the following six objectives in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016: 

 A requirement to invest fund money in a wide range of investments; 

 The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of investment; 

 The authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be measured and managed; 

 The authority’s approach to pooling investments, including use of collective investment vehicles; 

 The authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate governance considerations are taken into 

account in the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments; 

 The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments. 

 

The draft investment beliefs are shown below. 

 

 

City of Westminster Pension Fund – draft Investment Beliefs Statement 

 

This is the Core Belief Statement of the City of Westminster Pension Fund, (“the Fund”).   

 

The Statement is to set out the Fund’s key investment beliefs. These beliefs will form the foundation of discussions, 

and assist decisions regarding the Fund’s structure, its strategic asset allocation and selecting investment 

managers. 

  

1 Investment Governance   

a. The Fund has access to the necessary skills, expertise and resources to manage the whole Fund, as well as 

internally managing a small proportion of the Fund’s assets, such as cash management.   

b. Investment consultants, independent advisors and officers are a source of expertise and research to inform 

and assist the Committee’s decisions.  

c. The ultimate aim of the Fund’s investments is to pay pension liabilities when they become due. The 

Committee will therefore take account of liquidity and the long-term ability of the Fund to meet these 

obligations. 

d. The Fund is continuously improving its governance structure through bespoke training to implement tactical 

views more promptly, but acknowledges that it is not possible to achieve optimum market timing.   

  

2 Long Term Approach   

a. The strength of the employers’ covenant allows the Fund to take a longer term view of investment strategy 

than most investors.   

b. The most important aspect of risk is not the volatility of returns, but the risk of absolute loss over the 

medium and long term. This would in turn impact the ability of the employers to make adequate 

contributions to meet the Fund’s liabilities.  

c. Illiquidity and volatility are shorter term risks which offer potential sources of additional compensation to 

the long term investor. Moreover, it is important to avoid being a forced seller in short term market 

setbacks.   

d. Over the long term, equities are expected to outperform other liquid assets, particularly government bonds 

and cash.  

 

Page 31



City of Westminster Pension Fund  

Investment Beliefs 

 

 

3 Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors 

a. Certain ESG factors are financially material and may therefore influence the risk and return characteristics 

of the Fund’s investments and the likelihood that the Fund’s objectives will be achieved. 

b. Well governed companies that manage their business in a responsible manner are less vulnerable to 

downside risk and may therefore produce higher returns over the long term. 

c. In order to improve corporate governance, investment managers should exercise the voting rights attached 

to the shares they own, as well as engage with management of the companies they invest in. 

d. Environmental considerations form a part of the Committee’s decision-making process when making 

investment allocations 

e. If an investment manager fails to adequately consider ESG issues, the Committee is prepared to disinvest 

assets from that manager. 

  

4 Asset allocation   

a. Allocations to asset classes other than equities and government bonds (e.g., corporate bonds, private 

markets and property) offer the Fund other forms of risk premia (e.g., additional solvency risk/illiquidity 

risk).   

b. Diversification across asset classes and asset types that have low correlation with each other will tend to 

reduce the volatility of the overall Fund return.   

c. In general, allocations to bonds and alternatives are made to achieve additional diversification. As the 

funding level improves, the Committee may look to certain lower risk strategies to mitigate liability risks 

and thus dampen the volatility of the Fund’s actuarial funding level.  

 

5 Management Strategies  

a. A well-balanced portfolio has an appropriate mix of passive and active investments.  

b. Passive, index-tracker style management provides low cost exposure to equities and bonds, and is 

especially attractive in efficient markets.   

c. Active management will typically incur higher investment management fees but can provide additional 

return. Fees should be aligned to the interests of the Fund rather than performance of the market.   

d. Active management performance should be monitored over multi-year rolling cycles and assessed to 

confirm that the original investment process on appointment is being delivered and that continued 

appointment is appropriate. 

e. Employing a range of management styles can reduce the volatility of overall Fund returns but can also 

reduce long term outperformance.   

  

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited 

February 2020 

  

Page 32



City of Westminster Pension Fund  

Investment Beliefs 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited  3 

 

Risk Warnings 
 

 

 Past performance is not necessarily a guide to the future. 

 The value of investments may fall as well as rise and you may not get back the amount invested. 

 Income from investments may fluctuate in value. 

 Where charges are deducted from capital, the capital may be eroded or future growth constrained. 

 Investors should be aware that changing investment strategy will incur some costs. 

 Any recommendation in this report should not be viewed as a guarantee regarding the future performance of 

the products or strategy.  

 

Our advice will be specific to your current circumstances and intentions and therefore will not be suitable for use at 

any other time, in different circumstances or to achieve other aims or for the use of others.  Accordingly, you 

should only use the advice for the intended purpose. 

 

Page 33



City of Westminster Pension Fund  

Investment Beliefs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
 

 

Other than as stated below, this document is confidential and prepared solely for 

your information and that of other beneficiaries of our advice listed in our 

engagement letter. Therefore you should not refer to or use our name or this 

document for any other purpose, disclose them or refer to them in any prospectus 

or other document, or make them available or communicate them to any other 

party. If this document contains details of an arrangement that could result in a tax 

or National Insurance saving, no such conditions of confidentiality apply to the 

details of that arrangement (for example, for the purpose of discussion with tax 

authorities).  In any event, no other party is entitled to rely on our document for 

any purpose whatsoever and thus we accept no liability to any other party who is 

shown or gains access to this document. 

 

© 2020 Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited. All rights reserved. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited. Registered office: Hill House, 1 Little 

New Street, London EC4A 3TR, United Kingdom. Registered in England and Wales 

No 3981512. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is a subsidiary of Deloitte LLP, the 

United Kingdom member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), a UK 

private company limited by guarantee, whose member firms are legally separate 

and independent entities. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed 

description of the legal structure of DTTL and its member firms. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is authorised and regulated by the 

Financial Conduct Authority. 

Page 34


	Agenda
	3 Draft Investment Strategy Statement and Investment Beliefs
	3b - Appendix 1 - Investment Strategy Statement 2020
	3c - Appendix 2 WCC Investment Beliefs vF


